
 
 
MINUTES OF SPECIAL MEETING OF THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF CHANDLER, ARIZONA, held in the Council Conference Room, 88 E. Chicago 
Street, on Monday, March 23, 2015. 
 
THE MEETING WAS CALLED TO ORDER BY MAYOR TIBSHRAENY AT 5:04 p.m. 
 
The following members were present: Jay Tibshraeny Mayor 

Kevin Hartke   Vice-Mayor 
      Rick Heumann Councilmember 
      Nora Ellen  Councilmember  
      René Lopez  Councilmember 
      Jack Sellers  Councilmember 
      Terry Roe   Councilmember 
 
 
Also in attendance: Rich Dlugas, City Manager; Marsha Reed, Assistant City Manager; 
Nachie Marquez, Assistant City Manager; Kay Bigelow, City Attorney; Marla Paddock, City 
Clerk; Jeff Clark, Fire Chief; Sean Duggan, Police Chief.   
 
JOINT PUBLIC SAFETY TRAINING CENTER 
POLICE CHIEF SEAN DUGGAN said that in October 2013, the City Council authorized the use 
of about $250,000 in RICO funds to hire a firm to conduct a space and needs analysis.  The 
analysis identified 12 projects to enhance future capacity.  Identified as a top priority is a  
training facility to consolidate all training functions and staff at one location.  He added that 
presently, the police department does not have a training facility and they are constantly looking 
for facilities to use.   
 
He explained a challenge is that they will experience about a 38% turnover in all personnel in 
the next 4.5 years due to attrition.  That combined with the changing landscape of policing and 
the complexities involved in the profession, the need to have this type of facility is important.   
 
FIRE CHIEF CLARK provided the history of the current training center on Dobson Road. He 
said there were two phases of development planned, but the recession hit and those plans were 
placed on hold.  He stated there is a Burn Building, currently in this year’s CIP, that was Phase 
2.  He said there is currently 5 acres of land, donated by Intel, that sits vacant south of the 
current property.  The existing facility will be combined with those 5 acres for a total of 
approximately 9 total acres.   
 
He said there is currently a 5-story burn building/tower.  There is a Battalion Chief, two 
Captains, along with a maintenance person and an SCBA technician.  He noted it is a regional 
training facility with many agencies utilizing it.  He explained the new burn building would be a 
multi-faceted building and more suited to the fires seen locally.  In addition, a large vehicle 
storage facility, additional office and classrooms, an indoor auditorium and a tactical village are 
planned. 
 
Chief Duggan explained the plan was to co-locate police training facility at the Fire Training 
Center which would provide ability to share a multi-purpose auditorium, classrooms, and offices.  
He noted the Police Department owns about 18 acres of land at the 202 and McQueen and has 
been identified as a future location for a driving course.  He said while they do need a driving 



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING  

Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 2 

course, they need a training facility much more.  There is a possibility to sell the existing land to 
help fund some of the new facility.  He said they would still put in a request for a driving facility 
sometime in the future, but it is not a priority today.   
 
Councilmember Heumann asked if they used Bondurant Driving.  Chief Duggan said he is not 
aware if they have ever used it, but they have used the Central Arizona College. 
Fire Chief Clark said they have explored Bondurant years ago but there was a significant cost. 
Councilmember Heumann asked that be looked at.   
 
He displayed the existing footprint of the facility now and then with the additional construction.  
 
In response to a question, Chief Duggan said the auditorium would be a minimum of 200 seats.  
 
Chief Duggan reviewed the cost savings realized by combining both projects which is estimated 
around $5 million, along with the potential sale of the land on Armstrong Way estimated at $3.9 
million.  He said they could utilize some seized RICO money.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER LOPEZ asked if that land was sold and developed and the need arises in 
the future, what other alternative locations would there be for a driving tract.  Chief Duggan said 
there were some preliminary discussions to use some land at the north end of the Airport 
runway.  The land is owned by the city and has very limited use.  
 
COUNCILMEMBER ELLEN asked the purchase price for the driving track land.  Chief Duggan 
replied just under $4 million.   
 
COUNCILMEMBER HEUMANN added that there is no rush to sell this parcel in order to get 
best use in the future.   
 
 
BODY WORN CAMERAS 
 
Police Chief Duggan showed a short video highlighting the current body worn camera program.  
He explained that leveraging the technology of body worn cameras will demonstrate they are 
committed to the best standards of policing but will help in being more effective.   
 
In response to a question from Councilmember Ellen, Chief Duggan said  there are about 40 
cameras in use.  
 
Chief Duggan reviewed the benefits of the program: 
 
Improved evidence collection not only speed the criminal justice process, but the value it brings 
to the victims of crime is a huge side benefit.   
Reduce use of force:  last year Chandler officers used force 61 times, and 41 officers were 
assaulted during the year.  
Improved officer behavior and improved citizen behavior that could reduce lawsuits and 
complaints. He explained anecdotally cameras will change behavior.  Any opportunity that 
reduces the need to use force is a win.   
Expedited resolution of complaints/cases.  Having the evidence immediately available for 
viewing to  sustain or unfound the claim.  Chief said if a complaint or accusation is made, simply 
having the ability to review the evidence promptly saves much time, effort and emotion.    
  



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING 
Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 3 of 7 

 
Increased transparency and accountability. He noted that people are using cameras extensively 
and filming what they do.  This is an opportunity to give another side of the story and also to 
show fact.   
 
He said there are also concerns about the use of cameras:   
Perceived concerns:  citizens privacy and the officers privacy. 
Training and policy requirements and the degree of training to become proficient in the use.  
Logistical and resource requirements and policy creation.   
The awareness it may not capture all elements of an encounter, although it will be a tremendous 
enhancement.   
 
He explained the expectations include there will be faster resolution to criminal and civil cases 
and victims of crime, enhanced public trust, decreased “use of force” incidents and complaints, 
and decreased liability. 
 
He explained a Beta program was started in December 2013 with 3 different camera systems 
with 8 officers.  Now, there are 40 cameras imbedded throughout the department, location and 
shifts.   
 
Midway through the program the stakeholders were asked to identify and recommend a camera 
by considering the quality of the image, the downloading method, mounting options, battery life, 
retention, and storage.  After a comprehensive review by the RBO (relationship by objective) 
Committee, they recommended the Taser AXON Flex and Evidence.com. He noted Taser as 
they have the unique capability to store the data on the Cloud and it is exceptionally secure. It is 
used by the CIA and adheres to the FBI and CJIS requirements.  Once it’s docked, there is no 
way to erase or manipulate that data.  In addition it offers the ability to mount camera on or 
above the shoulder.  
 
Chief Duggan reported that during the first 6 months of use, there were approximately 10 
complaints.  Four complaints were cleared as the actions alleged did not occur.  There were six 
phone-in complaints that did not make it to an official complaint as once the complainant was 
notified this may have been on video and it would be reviewed, the complaints were withdrawn 
or the caller hung up.   
 
Councilmember Ellen asked if the public knows when the officer arrives on scene if there is a 
video.  Chief Duggan said they do not announce it.  Often times it is a very good de-escalation 
attempt, however officers are not required do it.   He cautioned that there may be situations 
where it will not be advantageous or tactfully sound to tell that person.   
 
Chief Duggan said that during the beta test, there was a complaint lodged against two officers 
behaviors and upon review of the camera footage, the allegations of unprofessionalism were 
sustained.  In review, Chief Duggan said 8 out of the 10 complaints favored for the officer.   
 
He commented during the scope of the last year, there has been quite a bit of work with the 
sworn labor groups on crafting policies based on best practices, the International Association of 
Chiefs of Police, and Police Executive Research Forum guidelines.   He stated there is no one 
model policy.  There are thousands of departments nationwide that have camera programs.   
 
Chief Duggan said he would provide the proposed policy to council.  He stated he believed this 
was an outstanding policy and is a product of police administration and labor and looking at the 



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING  

Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 4 

national trends, best practices, and what is occurring regionally in the Phoenix area.  If the 
program moves forward, a stakeholder group will be formed with all affected partners for the 
implementation.  The Chief expressed his desire is to have an outside body to perform an 
assessment after 24 months or 3 years of what the value of the program is.   
 
Councilmember Ellen asked what city started this (BWC) first.  The Chief said he is not sure 
what city, but the body cameras have been around for at least five years.  Just in the last two 
years, they have exponentially changed with the Cloud storage, the simplicity of the camera, 
size and the ease of use.  There are about 5,000 departments that have some form of body 
cameras.   
 
He said the policy also addresses under what circumstances recording is done and noted the 
ones contained in the presentation.  He said the policy can  be adjusted as new situations arise.  
 
Councilmember Heumann asked who would have access to edit the recordings.  Chief Duggan 
said there is no possibility to edit the original recording. There is a capability to delete, but that 
would be authorized at a higher level.  Chief Duggan said if the request was made as part of the 
investigation or the discovery process  we would have to release information just as we do now 
for the courts.  If a public records request was made through a Freedom of Information Act 
(nosey neighbor), we would be compelled to release that upon payment, but the incident would 
be blurred, although the audio would be intact.  That is the response documented in the policy.   
 
The desire is to equip all of the first responders with cameras.  In addition, his desire is to equip 
some detectives.(180 cameras). He reviewed the proposal that allows the purchase using RICO 
money (seize forfeiture money) and allows entering into a five year one-time contract with a 
vendor that will pay for the initial cameras, updates to the technology over a two year period, 
and unlimited storage.   
 
Councilmember Heumann asked about batteries.  Lt. Zdilla said that would include full 
maintenance for one year on the items.   
 
Councilmember Heumann asked about the bid process.  Chief Duggan said although they have 
identified a vendor they believe would be best, they would explore a no bid process.  If that is 
not possible, then they would do a Request for Proposals.  Chief Duggan commented they are 
not at that stage yet.  Councilmember Heumann asked for transparency during this process of 
identifying vendors as he felt it would be important to make that process as transparent as 
possible.   
 
Chief Duggan said they would also request a full time records clerk position to help with 
redacting and processing.   He said they would review the staffing needs in the out years.   
 
Councilmember Heumann asked how much an average case costs in time if there is a 
complaint.  Chief Duggan said there is no average, it is a laborious process and can be a few 
weeks before a complaint is adjudicated.  Councilmember Heumann noted that  a review of a 
video could save time in that process.    
Chief Duggan noted the other partners in this proposal – City Attorney’s office, City Prosecutor 
office.   
 
The Mayor asked about a timeline.  Chief Duggan said the earliest would be mid-year (fiscal) 
around December. Mayor commented about some cases that have received national attention 



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING 
Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 5 of 7 

 
and how the use of cameras could have impacted those.  Chief Duggan agreed that part of the 
reason they are national cases is because there weren’t cameras.   
 
Councilmember Heumann asked about the types of calls the cameras will be used at.   Chief 
Duggan replied that is still the program for the next year.  There are different opinions across 
the country on when the cameras should be on.   
 
Chief Duggan stressed the importance of having an implementation phase to give the officers 
time to get used to the technology.  During the Beta test, officers increased their recording as 
they became more familiar with the usage of the technology and value received. The policy, as 
currently written, strongly encourages recording specified scenarios.  He noted an integral part 
of the policy is when to record.  Even with mandatory requirements, there is still human error, 
equipment malfunctions.  He would like the groups to review the program after a year and see if 
policies need to be adjusted.    
 
Councilmember Ellen asked if this would save time.  Chief Duggan said the officer could use 
their smartphone or I-touch and review the recording to assist with report writing and memory of 
the event.  Councilmember Ellen asked if this will add more work.  Chief Duggan said at the end 
of the shift, the officer will be required to download and tag the events on the video.   
 
Councilmember Roe said it is important to be supportive of the Chief.  He does have some 
reservations and asked at the end of the 5 years, if forfeiture funds would be used to purchase 
cameras and storage for another 5 years.  Chief Duggan said at the end of the five years, we 
would own the cameras but would have to pay for storage. That could be between $100,000-
$150,000.  He said with the pace of technology, it’s hard to guess what will be out there.   
 
In response to questions regarding the data after five years and the retention, Chief Duggan 
said the records retention schedule will be followed.  City Attorney Kay Bigelow added that 
record types have different retention periods so the information will be treated similar to the 
blood that the lab has to keep.   
 
Councilmember Roe remarked on the low number of complaints received on the Police 
Department.  Chief Duggan noted that most of the complaints are internal.  Councilmember Roe 
commented on the amount of money that is being spent to address a situation that has a low 
amount of complaints.  Chief Duggan replied that it only takes one complaint to spark a huge 
controversy.  The reduction of complaints is one of the by-products of this program.  Foremost is 
the evidentiary value of collecting evidence.  This technology will allow the collection of 
evidence far more effectively and efficiently.   
 
Councilmember Heumann said another change has been the increase of smartphones and 
people who are always recording and those recordings could be only a partial video of what is 
happening.   
 
Councilmember Sellers reiterated what was said earlier that one of the advantages is that it de-
escalates the confrontational nature of the incident.   
 
Councilmember Roe said that officers will spend time with the videos each day, so there will be 
continuing expenses.  Councilmember Ellen said she does want the officers to have the 
technology they need.  In regards to ongoing expenses, she asked if there was a better idea of 
the ongoing expenses.  Chief Duggan said the actual out of pocket expenses will be the one 



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING  

Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 6 

time purchase for the all-inclusive 5-year package and the position that will need to be hired (on-
going) for the Records Clerk. He agreed there is an expense of time and effort, but noted there 
is always time taken for training of new technology whether it be for mobile data terminals, 
report writing or learning new systems.   
 
Chief Duggan remarked that all of the bench mark cities and regional partners either have a 
program or are moving toward a program.   
 
Councilmember Hartke asked if the officers could do tagging during their shift and not just doing 
it at the end of the shift.  Chief replied they can do it at the end of the event.   They need to have 
access through a smart phone or laptop to review and tag it.  At the end of the shift, they are 
taking the device and putting it in the charger.  Lt. Zdilla explained  the docking at the end of the 
shift will take all the data on the device and download.  Each officer will be issued an IPOD 
touch-type device.  With that device they can connect directly with that camera by blue tooth.  At 
the end of an interaction, the officer can go back to his/her car and log into the camera, review, 
tag and index.  At the end of the shift, they would not need to go back into the system to tag if 
they have done that previous.  If it has been a busy shift, they can do it later.   
 
In response to comments from Councilmember Ellen, the Chief explained with the Internet 
access to the cars, the officers would now have a complete mobile office in their vehicle.  They 
wouldn’t have to be tethered to the station.  He said, arguably Chandler’s vehicles will be the 
most progressive technology equipped vehicles in the valley.   
 
Councilmember Ellen asked if there is another program the officer’s want other than the 
cameras. Chief Duggan, said these are mutually exclusive but on different paths.   They have 
been working full steam for the past year on the Internet connectivity.  The camera program is 
the next priority that will bring true value to the city. 
   
Councilmember Lopez asked if there was an issue we are trying to correct and is there a 
purpose or savings we are trying to realize with owning the cameras.  He said the complaint 
volume didn’t seem to the driving issue. He said the multi-departmental savings is something he 
would like to see quantified.  He expressed concern with the security and records retention and 
asked what liability the vendor has if the information is compromised. He also asked if this was 
priority, and if so, he was supportive.   
 
Councilmember reiterated the Chief’s intention to review the program and weigh the value in 5 
years.  He stated his support for the program.  
 
Mayor Tibshraeny thanked Chief Duggan and his staff for their work in this.  He said all council 
agrees that we have a great police department and part of being good at what you do is also 
trying to get better, whether it be more accountability or more transparency.  There is no price 
on justice or the truth.  He stated even though there were only 60 incidents, you still want to get 
to the truth of every instance and if this helps to get to that answer quicker and the truth, that is 
good.   
 
Adjournment:  The meeting was adjourned at approximately  6:32 p.m. 

 
 
 
ATTEST:  ________________________  ______________________________ 



MINUTES OF THE CHANDLER CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING 
Thursday, February 12, 2015 
Page 7 of 7 

 
                         City Clerk                                                   Mayor 
 
 
Approved:  April 16, 2015 
     
 
 
     CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the minutes of the 
special meeting of the City Council of Chandler, Arizona, held on the 23rd day of March, 
2015.  I further certify that the meeting was duly called and held and that a quorum was 
present. 
 
DATED this __________ day of April 2015. 
 
 
                __________________________ 
                                                                    City Clerk 


